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DEFENDANTS' MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO STRIKE  

I. 	INTRODUCTION  

The Defendant, Regional School District #14 (hereinafter "Region 14"), is a regional 

public school district organized under Conn. Gen. Stat. §10-39 et seq., and comprised of the 

Towns of Woodbury and Bethlehem. Among the schools operated by Region 14 is Nonnewaug 

High School in Woodbury. At a special meeting convened on May 16, 2013, following a public 

hearing, the Region 14 Board of Education voted in favor of a resolution appropriating 

$63,820,605 for the renovation of and additions to Nonnewaug High School, and authorizing the 



issue of bonds and notes in the same amount to finance this appropriation. By way of further 

resolution, the Board of Education recommended to the Towns within Region 14 that the 

aforesaid bond and note authorization be approved by referendum vote, with said referendum to 

be held in each of the towns on June 18, 2013. The Board of Education voted at the May 16, 

2013 meeting to put the following question on the referendum ballot: "Shall Regional School 

District Number 14 appropriate $63,820,605 for renovation of and additions to Nonnewaug High 

School, and authorize the issue of bonds and notes in the same amount to finance the 

appropriation?" 

On June 18, 2013 a referendum vote on the Nonnewaug High School improvements 

question was held in the Regional School District #14 school district. The referendum question 

passed by a four vote margin: 1,269 votes in favor to 1,265 votes against. Since the referendum 

vote certain parties have raised concerns over the "warning" of the referendum. 

In the instant case, instead of utilizing the procedures to challenge a referendum provided 

under Connecticut General Statutes §9-371b, the plaintiffs have chosen to raise a plethora of 

expansive constitutional and statutory claims, along with an injunction barring Region 14 or the 

Towns from funding or otherwise implementing the results of the referendum. The plaintiffs' 

complaint is awash with what appear to be novel state and federal statutory constitutional claims. 

In addition to claiming that the notice/warning for the referendum was defective, and claiming 

that the defendants are seeking to proceed with the renovation project anyways, the plaintiffs 

allege that the Woodbury First Selectman, Bethlehem First Selectman and Region 14 

Superintendent actually "conspired to have the referendum results validated, despite 

acknowledging legal notice was not published prior to the referendum." The plaintiffs assert that 
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the conduct of the defendants violates numerous state statutory provisions, along with the 

Woodbury Town Charter; Count One; violates the due process and equal protection clauses of 

the U.S. Constitution, along with their "right to assemble" and have a "fair, proper and otherwise 

appropriate referendum" under the provisions of the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution; 

Count Two; violates the due process and equal protection provisions of Article First of the 

Connecticut Constitution, along with their "right to assemble" and have a "fair, proper and 

otherwise appropriate referendum" under Article First, Section 14 of the Connecticut 

Constitution; Count Three; constitutes an "abuse of authority"; Count Four; constitutes a 

"violation of Civil Rights" under Connecticut General Statutes §7-465 and 42 U.S.C. §1983; 

Count Five; and constitutes a violation of the Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act. Count 

Six. Furthermore, the plaintiffs (again apparently forgetting that they had remedies to challenge 

a referendum under Connecticut General Statutes §9-371b) assert that they have no effective 

remedy "to hold the defendants accountable" and seek an injunction to protect themselves 

against "irreparable harm." Count Seven. In addition to injunctive relief, the plaintiffs seek 

compensatory and punitive damages, along with attorneys' fees and costs 

Defendants Regional School District #14, Jody Ian Goeler, Superintendent of Schools, 

Regional District #14 Board of Education, George Bauer, Former Chairman Regional District 

#14 Board of Education and John Chapman, Chairman Regional District #14 Board of Education 

(hereinafter "the Region 14 defendants") hereby move to strike Counts Two, Three, Four, Five, 

Six and Seven, along with claims for monetary relief against defendants Goeler, Bauer, and 

Chapman, and hereby submit this memorandum of law in support of their motion to strike. 
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STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A motion to strike "challenges the legal sufficiency of a pleading." Mingachos v. CBS, 

Inc., 196 Conn. 91, 108 (1985). See also Blake v. Levy, 191 Conn. 257, 258 n.1 (1983); Practice 

Book §10-39. Although the motion "admits all facts well pleaded; it does not admit legal  

conclusions or the truth or accuracy of opinions stated in the pleadings." Mingachos v. CBS, 

Inc., 196 Conn. at 108 (emphasis in original). In adjudging a motion to strike, "[t]he trial court 

may not seek beyond the complaint for facts not alleged." Cavallo v. Derby Savings Bank, 188 

Conn. 281, 285-86 (1982). Where, as in here, the plaintiff annexes and incorporates exhibits into 

its complaint, the court may consider such exhibits, since exhibits incorporated by reference into 

a complaint become part of it and must be so treated in the determination of a motion to strike. 

H. Pearce Real Estate Co. v. Kaiser, 176 Conn. 442, 444 (1979); Redmond v. Mathies, 149 

Conn. 423, 426 (1962); Asset Management Solutions, Inc. v. One Corporate Drive Associates, 

1996 WL 600731, at **3 (Conn. Super. 1996). Cf Practice Book §10-29. The court must 

examine each of the challenged allegations of the complaint to determine whether they 

sufficiently articulate "a claim upon which relief can be granted." Practice Book §10-39(a)(1). 

See also Alarm Applications Co. v. Simsbury Volunteer Fire Co., 179 Conn. 541, 545 (1980). A 

motion to strike is also the proper vehicle for challenging a prayer for relief. Practice Book §10- 

39(a)(2); see also Central New Haven Development Corp. v. Potpourri, 39 Conn. Sup. 132, 133 

(1983). 
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III. ARGUMENT 

A. SINCE THERE IS NO PRIVATE CAUSE OF ACTION FOR RIGHTS  
GUARANTEED UNDER ARTICLE FIRST, SECTIONS 1, 8, 14, AND 20 
OF THE CONNECTICUT CONSTITUTION, THIS COURT SHOULD  
STRIKE COUNT THREE OF THE PLAINTIFF'S COMPLAINT. 

In Count Three, the plaintiffs allege several scattershot violation of Article First of the 

Connecticut Constitution, specifically, a) Sections 1 and 20, which are the equal protection 

related clauses of the Connecticut Constitution, b) Section 8, which is a due process related 

clauses of the Connecticut Constitution, and c) Section 14, which provides: 

The citizens have a right, in a peaceable manner, to assemble for their common good, and 
to apply to those invested with the powers of government, for redress of grievances, or 
other proper purposes, by petition, address or remonstrance. 

Since there is no private cause of action for violations of the afore-mentioned provisions of the 

Connecticut Constitution, the plaintiffs' claims contained in Count Three are legally insufficient 

and should be stricken. 

Numerous courts in Connecticut have held that there is no private cause of action for 

monetary relief for deprivations of rights guaranteed under the Connecticut Constitution. The 

Connecticut Supreme Court has noted that: 

as a general matter, we should not construe our state constitution to provide a basis for 
the recognition of a private damages action for injuries for which the legislature has 
provided a reasonably adequate statutory remedy. This conclusion accords with the 
constitutional principle of separation of powers and its requirement for judicial deference 
to legislative resolution of conflicting considerations of public policy. 

Kelley Prop. Dev., Inc. v. Town of Lebanon,  226 Conn. 314, 339 (1993). 

The instant case emanates from a challenge to the conduct of a referendum. The 

legislature has prescribed a clearly adequate statutory remedy for addressing any allegations of 

improprieties in a referendum, namely, Connecticut General Statutes §9-37 lb. The fact that the 
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relief that the plaintiffs are seeking by way of this constitutional claims (specifically, money 

damages, punitive damages and attorneys' fees) may be broader than what may be available 

under §9-37 lb (ordering a new referendum) does not render the §9-37 lb remedy inappropriate. 

Id. at 340. Thus, in the context of this available remedy, it is especially appropriate that this 

Court stay true to the precedent disallowing the private cause of action that the plaintiffs seek. 

Specifically, the Connecticut courts have expressly declined to recognize a private cause 

of action for alleged violations of the due process clause of the Connecticut Constitution 

contained in Article First, Section 8. See Kelley Property Development v. Town of Lebanon, 

226 Conn. 314, 333 (1993)(no private right of action for violation of Due Process Clause and 

provisions of Connecticut Constitution). Similarly, the courts have declined to create or permit a 

private cause of action for violations of the equal protection clauses of the Connecticut 

Constitution contained in Article First, Sections 1 and 20. See Ward v. Housatonic Area Transit 

District, 154 F.Supp. 2d 339, 356 (D.Conn. 2001). Finally, the courts have similarly declined 

to create a private cause of action for violations of Article First, Section 14. Wylie v. W. Haven, 

2010 WL 2196493 (Conn. Super. 2010); Aselton v. Town of East Hartford, 2002 WL 31875443 

(Conn. Super. 2002). Cf Doninger v. Niehoff, 594 F.Supp.2d 211, 228-29 (D.Conn.2009). 

Accordingly, this court should strike Count Three as legally insufficient.' 

1  In addition, some of the plaintiffs' constitutional claims are on their face puzzling. For example, it is not clear how 
the defendants have attempted to block the plaintiffs from assembling or otherwise deprive them of their free speech 
rights. Zigmund v. Leone, 2000 WL 486853 (Conn. Super. 2000) ("The plaintiff has failed to allege that his right to 
assemble or to seek redress of his grievances to the government has been inhibited" as per Article First, Section 14). 
In addition, it is curious to claim a lack of due process when Connecticut General Statutes §7-37 lb expressly gives 
the plaintiffs all the process that is due. This available process also renders a claim of violation of the right to seek 
"redress of grievances" even more mystifying. Zigmund v. Leone,  supra. The merits of these constitutional claims 
are discussed in more detail in the context of the U.S. Constitution in Section B, infra. 
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B. SINCE THE PLAINTIFFS' NUMEROUS FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL 
CLAIMS ARE LEGALLY DEFICIENT, THIS COURT SHOULD STRIKE  
COUNTS TWO AND FIVE OF THE PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT. 

The plaintiffs assert deprivations under Due Process Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth 

Amendments of the U.S. Constitution due to the defendants' failure to provide proper legal 

notice of the referendum. Assuming arguendo that the plaintiffs had a protected property 

interest, the plaintiffs' claims of a due process violation are insufficient because the procedures 

provided under Connecticut General Statutes §9-37 lb satisfy due process. Due process is a 

flexible concept and provides for such procedural protections as the particular situation demands. 

Morrissey v. Brewer, 408 U. S. 471, 481 (1972). The essential requirement of due process is the 

opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner. Cleveland Board of 

Education v. Loudermill, 470 U.S. 532, 542 (1985). 

Generally, a plaintiff in a 42 U.S.C. §1983/constitutional case is not required to exhaust 

his or her administrative remedies before bringing suit. Patsy v. Board of Regents of Florida, 

457 U.S. 496 (1982). However, the U.S. Supreme Court's holding in Patsy does not apply in a 

procedural due process action if the plaintiffs failed to avail themselves of the right to be heard, 

which is the very right being asserted. "Although one need not exhaust state remedies before 

bringing a Section 1983 action claiming a violation of procedural due process, one must 

nevertheless prove as an element of that claim that state procedural remedies are inadequate." 

Marino v. Ameruso, 837 F.2d 45, 47 (2nd  Cir.1988). See also Narumanchi v. Board of Trustees  

of Connecticut State University, 850 F.2d 70, 72 (2 nd  Cir.1988) (affirming dismissal of tenured 

teacher's Fourteenth Amendment procedural due process claim because teacher failed to submit 

to his union's grievance procedures, as set forth in collective bargaining agreement, after he was 
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suspended without pay); Boston Environmental Sanitation Inspectors Association v. Boston, 794 

F.2d 12, 13 (1 st  Cir. 1986) ("appellants cannot complain of a violation of procedural due process 

rights when appellants have made no attempt to avail themselves of existing state procedures"); 

Aronson v. Hall, 707 F.2d 693, 694 (2 nd  Cir.1983) (affirming district court's dismissal of 

procedural due process claim because "[h]aving chosen not to pursue available administrative 

review, [plaintiff] is hardly in a position to claim that such review denied him due process"); 

Alba v. Ansonia Board of Education, 999 F. Supp. 687, 690 (D.Conn.1998). The plaintiffs 

cannot assert a deprivation of due process with regard to the conduct by the defendants 

concerning the referendum when there is a statutory procedure in place under Connecticut 

General Statutes §9-371 b to protect these rights. Indeed, one of the remedies provided via that 

statute is the ordering of a new referendum. If the referendum was as defective as the plaintiffs 

believe, then §9-37 lb provided a process in place to cure the error. 2  

The plaintiffs' remaining federal constitutional claims are also deficient. The plaintiffs 

assert that the failure to provide proper legal notice of the referendum constitutes a violation of 

the Equal Protection Clause of the U.S. Constitution. However, the plaintiffs' claims on their 

face do not establish a violation. Generally speaking, in order to state a claim for violation of 

their right to equal protection under the law, the plaintiffs must allege that: (1) they, compared 

with others similarly situated persons, was selectively treated; and (2) such selective treatment 

was based on impermissible considerations such as race, religion, gender, age, intent to inhibit or 

punish the exercise of constitutional rights, or malicious or bad faith intent to injure a person. 

Crowley v. Courville, 76 F.3d 47, 52-3 (2nd  Cir. 1996). Both of these elements are necessary to 

2  In addition, as to the error in the referendum notice, acts of mere negligence do not violate an individual's rights 
under the due process clause of the U.S. Constitution. See Davidson v. Cannon, 474 U.S. 344, 347 (1986). 
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state a claim, and "a demonstration of different treatment from persons similarly situated, 

without more, would not establish malice or bad faith." Crowley v. Courville, 76 F.3d at 53. 

Under the Equal Protection Clause, the plaintiff at all times must allege and establish the 

occurrence of intentional discrimination, i.e., a specific intent to retaliate against the plaintiffs in 

order to injure them. Personnel Administrator of Massachusetts v. Feeney, 442 U.S. 256 (1979) 

(action must be taken because of intent to adversely affect group); Washington v. Davis, 426 

U.S. 229 (1976). Merely negligent conduct or errant or mistaken judgment does not support a 

denial of equal protection. Village of Arlington Heights v. Metropolitan Housing Development  

Corp., 429 U.S. 252, 265 (1977); Beck v. Washington, 369 U.S. 541-554-5 (1962). Mere 

disparate impact or unequal results does not suffice for proving an equal protection claim. 

Washington v. Davis,  supra; Dandridge v. Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 485 (1970). 

It is respectfully submitted that the plaintiffs' equal protection claims do not come close 

to stating a viable claim. There is no allegation of membership in any protected class. Indeed, 

one would have to guess as to which disparately treated group they could belong. In addition, 

the alleged error with regard to the publication for the referendum is simply not the type of 

conduct necessary for an equal protection claim. These claims are insufficient on their face. 

The plaintiffs' remaining constitutional claim is that the defendants' alleged failure to 

provide proper legal notice for the referendum, and proceeding with the project, deprives the 

plaintiffs of "their right to assemble and their right to have a fair, proper, and otherwise 

appropriate referendum under the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution." First of all, the 

plaintiffs allege no facts that would indicate that the defendants blocked their right to assemble. 
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In addition, the plaintiffs have made no allegation of a view-point based free speech restriction 

imposed upon them. As to the issue of the referendum, "the right to pass legislation through a 

referendum is a state-created right not guaranteed by the U.S. Constitution." Molinari v.  

Bloomberg 564 F.3d 587, 597 (2d Cir.2009). It is understood that should a state choose to 

confer such a right on its citizens, "it is 'obligated to do so in a manner consistent with the 

Constitution.' " Id. (quoting Meyer v. Grant, 486 U.S. 414, 420 (1988)). For example, the 

Supreme Court has overturned state laws that placed unconstitutional regulations on speech in 

the initiative context by, for example, "dictat[ing] who could speak (only volunteer circulators 

and registered voters) or how to go about speaking (with name badges and subsequent reports)." 

Id. at 599 (quoting Initiative & Referendum Inst. v. Walker, 450 F.3d 1082, 1099 (10th Cir.2006) 

(en banc) and citing Meyer and Buckley v. Am. Constitutional Law Found., Inc., 525 U.S. 182 

(1999)). Nonetheless, "Meyer  and  Buckley  do not guarantee a right to legislate by referendum," 

but instead merely "make clear that the First Amendment protects political speech from undue 

government interference in the context of referendum petitioning." Id. In other words, 

Although the First Amendment protects political speech incident to an initiative 
campaign, it does not protect the right to make law, by initiative or otherwise.... The 
distinction is between laws that regulate or restrict the communicative conduct of persons 
advocating a position in a referendum, which warrant strict scrutiny, and laws that 
determine the process by which legislation is enacted, which do not. 

Initiative & Referendum Inst., 450 F.3d at 1099-1100; see also Biddulph v. Mortham, 89 F.3d 

1491, 1498 n. 7 (1 1 th Cir.1996) ("[T]he Court [in Meyer ] established an explicit distinction 

between a state's power to regulate the initiative process in general and the power to regulate the 

exchange of ideas about political changes sought through the process. The Court only addressed 

the constitutionality of the latter."). See also Weiss  v. Inc. Vill. of Sag Harbor, 762 F. Supp. 2d 
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560, 575 (E.D.N.Y. 2011). Simply put, the plaintiffs' First Amendment claims in Count Two are 

legally insufficient. Indeed, the entire count is deficient and must be stricken. 3  

*** 

The legal insufficiency of the underlying constitutional or "civil rights" claim then 

renders Count Five ("Violations of Civil Rights, CGS §7-465, 42 U.S.C. §1983") an empty 

vessel that likewise should be stricken. Specifically, 42 U.S.C. §1983 "provides a civil claim for 

damages against any person who, acting under color of state law, deprives another of a right, 

privilege or immunity secured by the Constitution or the laws of the United States." Thomas v.  

Roach 165 F.3d 137, 149 (2d Cir.1999). In the absence of viable federal (or even state) 

constitutional claims, as noted both above and in Section A, Count Five cannot stand. 

C. IN LIGHT OF THE REMEDY PROVIDED UNDER CONNECTICUT 
GENERAL STATUTES 49-371b, THE CLAIM FOR INJUNCTIVE RELIEF IN 
COUNT SEVEN IS ALSO LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT AND SHOULD BE  
STRICKEN. 

In addition to defeating the Due Process Claims, the statutory procedure in place under 

Connecticut General Statutes §9-371b with regard to the conduct of and challenges to referenda 

defeats the plaintiffs' claims in Count Seven. The plaintiffs assert in their complaint that they 

have "no other sufficient remedy at law to hold the defendants accountable." That is simply not 

true. Indeed, one could argue that Connecticut General Statutes §9-371b presents the exclusive 

avenue to challenge a referendum. As such, this Court should strike Count Seven. 

3 The deficiencies in the plaintiffs' federal constitutional claims are likewise present in their counterpart state 
constitutional claims in Count Three. 
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D. SINCE THERE IS NO CAUSE OF ACTION FOR BROAD CLAIMS OF  
"ABUSE OF AUTHORITY", THIS COURT SHOULD STRIKE COUNT FOUR 
OF THE PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT. 

In Count Four of their complaint, the plaintiffs assert a broad claim of "abuse of 

authority." There is no apparent foundation for an independent cause of action for "abuse of 

authority" under Connecticut jurisprudence. As such, the claim is legally insufficient and should 

be stricken. 

E. SINCE THERE IS NO CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST A MUNICIPAL  
AGENCY UNDER THE CONNECTICUT UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT  
("CUTPA"), AND SINCE THE REGION 14 DEFENDANTS WERE NOT  
ENGAGED IN "TRADE OR COMMERCE," THIS COURT SHOULD STRIKE 
COUNT SIX OF THE PLAINTIFFS' COMPLAINT. 

For some bizarre and unexplained reason, the plaintiffs allege that the defendants has an 

duty to engage in fair acts and practices in the conduct of "trade or commerce" pursuant to the 

Connecticut Unfair Trade Practices Act (CUTPA), Connecticut General Statutes §42-110b et 

seq., and that the defendants engaged in unfair trade practices with regard to the conduct of the 

referendum concerning the issuance of bonds. The Region 14 defendants (a regional school 

district, along with its superintendent of schools and the past and present chairmen of its Board 

of Education) were stunned to learn from the plaintiffs' complaint that they are engaged in trade 

and commerce. The activities involving the Region 14 defendants (the conducting of a 

referendum in the context of the issuance of bonds and a high school building project) are all 

government functions, taken pursuant to Connecticut General Statutes §§10-47, 10-47c and 10- 

56. There is no allegation that any of these defendants sought or received any monetary benefit 

or profit. 
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The courts have generally held that municipal agencies are not covered by CUTPA, plain 

and simple. See Connelly v. Housing Authority of New Haven, 213 Conn. 354, 363-4 (1990) 

("After a review of cases decided under the [federal trade practices] Act over its seventy-five 

year history... we were unable to discover any instance in which that act has been applied to any 

act or practice of a local public agency, including a housing authority"; Court notes that federal 

act is lodestar for CUTPA). See also Ippoliti v. Town of Ridgefield, 2000 WL 1198173 (Conn. 

Super. 2000) (The "great weight of Superior Court decisions have relied upon Connelly ... to 

support the conclusion that CUTPA does not apply to municipalities"); Nettleton Mechanical  

Contractors, Inc. v. City of Meriden, 2000 WL 175586 (Conn. Super. 2000). 

Even in an outlier Superior Court decision, which did not find a per se total exemption to 

CUTPA for municipalities, the Court still noted that a) the determination of coverage under 

CUTPA is a question of law (not fact), and b) when such a municipal agency engages in 

governmental functions (such as entering into contracts), it is not engaged in trade or commerce 

and is not subject to CUTPA. Loureiro Contractors, Inc. v. City of Danbury, 2010 WL 2365301 

(Conn. Super. 2010). See also Town of Manchester v. United Stone Am., Inc., 2000 WL 872459 

(Conn. Super. 2000) ("Neither contracting [by the Town] with the defendant for the alteration 

and addition of the Town Hall, nor the specified activities associated with performance of the 

contract constitutes the conduct of trade or commerce" under CUTPA. 

While the undersigned respectfully asserts that Connelly dictates that local public 

agencies have blanket immunity and are completely exempt from CUTPA, even a narrower view 

of the CUTPA exemption does not save the plaintiffs. As the plaintiffs have not come even close 
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to alleging facts showing that the Region 14 defendants were engaged in "trade or commerce," 

this court should strike Count Six as legally insufficient. 

F. THE COURT SHOULD STRIKE PLAINTIFFS' SECTION 1983 CLAIMS 
AGAINST THE INDIVIDUAL DEFENDANTS, AND/OR ANY CLAIMS FOR 
MONETARY RELIEF AGAINST THEM PURSUANT TO THE DOCTRINE OF 
QUALIFIED IMMUNITY. 

Defendants Jody Ian Goeler, Superintendent of Schools, George Bauer, Former Chairman 

Regional District #14 Board of Education and John Chapman, Chairman Regional District #14 

Board of Education are entitled to protection from the 42 U.S.C. §1983 claims for monetary 

damages against them pursuant to the doctrine of qualified immunity. "The qualified immunity 

doctrine shields 'government officials performing discretionary functions ... from liability for 

civil damages insofar as their conduct does not violate clearly established statutory or 

constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known.' Lewis v. Cowen, 165 

F.3d 154, 166 (2d Cir.1999) (citing Harlow v. Fitzgerald,  457 U.S. 800, 818 (1982)). In other 

words, the doctrine applies if a public official's "actions were objectively reasonable, as 

evaluated in the context of legal rules that were 'clearly established' at the time." Poe v. Leonard, 

282 F.3d 123, 132 (2d Cir. 2002). Public officials have an: 

entitlement not to stand trial or face the other burdens of litigation, conditioned on 
the resolution of the essentially legal question whether the conduct of which the 
plaintiff complains violated clearly established law. The entitlement is an 
immunity from suit rather than a mere defense to liability; and like an absolute 
immunity, it is effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial. 

Mitchell v. Forsyth, 472 U.S. 511, 526 (1985) (emphasis in original). 

Qualified immunity is grounded on the notion that a public official's good faith mistake 

will not subject him to liability: The concern of the immunity inquiry is to "acknowledge that 

reasonable mistakes can be made as to the legal constraints on particular [governmental] 
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conduct.... It is sometimes difficult for an [official] to determine how the relevant legal 

doctrine..., will apply to the factual situation the [official] confronts.... If the [official's] 

mistake as to what the law requires is reasonable, however, the [official] is entitled to the 

immunity defense." Saucier v. Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 205 (2001); see also Malley v. Briggs, 475 

U.S. 335, 343 (1986) (qualified immunity leaves ample room for mistaken judgments). 

When determining whether the doctrine of qualified immunity bars a suit against a public 

official, a reviewing court: (1) must first consider whether the facts alleged, when taken in the 

light most favorable to the party asserting the injury, demonstrate a violation of a constitutional 

right, (Saucier, at 201); and (2) then must consider whether the officials' actions violated clearly 

established statutory or constitutional rights of which a reasonable person would have known 

(Hope v. Pelzer, 536 U.S. 730, 739 (2002)). 

To defeat a claim of qualified immunity, a plaintiff must demonstrate the violation of a 

"clearly established" right, which means that "[t]he right must be sufficiently clear that a 

reasonable official would understand that what he is doing violates that right." Kennedy v.  

Lehman, No. 07-4442-cv, 2009 WL 1262888, at *3 (2d Cir. May 6, 2009). "This is not to say 

that an official action is protected by qualified immunity unless the very action in question has 

previously been held unlawful, but it is to say that in the light of pre-existing law the 

unlawfulness must be apparent." Id. citing Anderson v. Creighton, 483 U.S. 635, 640 (1987) 

(citations omitted). This means that "the Second Circuit or the Supreme Court has recognized 

the right." Id. citing Anderson v. Recore, 317 F.3d 194, 197 (2d Cir. 2003) (quotation marks 

omitted). 
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Application of the doctrine therefore utilizes a two-step inquiry. First on the facts alleged, 

did plaintiff suffer violation of a constitutional right? See Saucier,  at 200-01. The second part of 

this inquiry "must be undertaken in light of the specific context of the case," [and asks] "whether 

it would be clear to a reasonable officer that his conduct was unlawful in the situation he 

confronted." Id. at 201, 202. 

Here, the individual defendants note that the facts alleged do not establish that the 

plaintiffs suffered a violation of their Constitutional rights. In any event, the plaintiffs have not 

and cannot show that the defendants' alleged failure to properly warn a referendum deprived 

them of clearly established Constitutional rights. As such the plaintiffs' 42 U.S.C. §1983 claims 

must be stricken for failure to state a claim. More importantly, any claim for monetary relief 

against them should be stricken. 

IV. CONCLUSION  

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should strike Counts Two, Three, Five, Six, and 

Seven of the plaintiffs' complaint; furthermore, this court should strike the plaintiffs' demand for 

monetary damages and attorney's fees contained in their claim for relief. 
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Regional School District #14; Jody Ian Goeler, 
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